RECEIVED

Jun 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002283
Case No. 2024-CP-10-06252

David White, Respondent,

v.

Lyft, Inc., d/b/a Lyft Drives South Carolina, Inc., Alicia
White, and Jane Doe,

Of whom Lyft, Inc., d/b/a Lyft Drives South Carolina, Inc.
is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Blake T. Williams
Email: blake.williams@nelsonmullins.com
Yasmeen Ebbini
Email: yasmeen.ebbini@nelsonmullins.com
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err by addressing the gateway arbitrability issues of (a) the applicability of the Arbitration Agreement in Lyft's Terms of Service to Respondent's claims and (b) unconscionability in the face of a valid, enforceable, and unchallenged delegation clause reserving these determinations for the arbitrator?

2. Did the Circuit Court err by finding that Respondent's claims did not fall within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement in Lyft's Terms of Service despite the Arbitration Agreement's language expressly providing that "any dispute, claim or controversy" between the parties arising out of or relating to . . . the Lyft Platform" are subject to arbitration?

3. Did the Circuit Court err by finding the Arbitration Agreement in Lyft's Terms of Service unconscionable notwithstanding Respondent's failure to provide any evidence that he lacked meaningful choice or sufficiently demonstrate that the terms were illegally one sided and oppressive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the Circuit Court’s Order denying Appellant Lyft Inc, d/b/a Lyft Drives South Carolina, Inc.’s (“Lyft” or “Appellant”) Motion to Compel Arbitration. The Circuit Court incorrectly concluded that Respondent David White’s (“Respondent”) claims: (1) do not fall within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement in Lyft’s Terms of Service and (2) that the Agreement was an unconscionable and unenforceable adhesion contract. In doing so, the Circuit Court ignored the parties’ valid delegation clause and made improper rulings as to the scope, validity, and enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement. However, these decisions were expressly delegated to the arbitrator by the parties, and Respondent never mentioned or challenged the delegation clause below. As a result, “a court may not override the contract and decide the arbitrability question.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC v. Ludy*, 435 S.C. 690, 700, 869 S.E.2d 859, 864 (Ct. App. 2022) (quoting *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 69 (2019) (same)). This Court should therefore reverse.

This matter arises out of a December 26, 2021 car accident. At the time of the accident, Respondent was a passenger in Defendant White’s vehicle while White was providing Rideshare Services on the Lyft Platform. (*See* Compl. ¶¶ 8, 12; R. 17.)

Lyft is a transportation network company that “uses a digital network, platform, or Internet-enabled application to connect a passenger to a transportation network driver for the purpose of providing transportation for compensation using a vehicle.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-23-1610. In other words, Lyft operates a peer-to-peer software platform that connects users seeking rides to certain destinations (“riders”) with independent contractor drivers (“drivers”) who provide rides using personal vehicles. (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A – McCachern Aff. ¶ 4; R. 82.) The Lyft software Platform includes Lyft’s website, technology platform, and mobile device application (the “Lyft

App”). (*Id.*) The Lyft App offers a method to connect drivers and riders and allows those two groups to communicate. (*Id.*)

For users to access Lyft’s services and use its Platform to connect riders with drivers, they must first create a Lyft user account using the Lyft App and agree to Lyft’s Terms of Service (“Terms” or “TOS”). After creating an account, users are prompted periodically to reaffirm their acceptance of Lyft’s updated Terms if they wish to continue using the Lyft Platform.

The Terms have at all times included a mutual arbitration agreement (the “Arbitration Agreement”). (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A ¶¶ 7–8; R. 82-83.) The first page of the Terms contains the following notice in all caps:

PLEASE BE ADVISED: THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS PROVISIONS THAT GOVERN HOW CLAIMS BETWEEN YOU AND LYFT CAN BE BROUGHT ([SEE SECTION 17 BELOW](#)). THESE PROVISIONS WILL, WITH LIMITED EXCEPTION, REQUIRE YOU TO SUBMIT CLAIMS YOU HAVE AGAINST LYFT TO BINDING AND FINAL ARBITRATION . . .

(Exs. A-3, A-5 – Lyft TOS; R. 88, 132.) The “SEE SECTION 17 BELOW” is a blue internal jump link that would take the viewer directly to the full Arbitration Agreement. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Ex. A, ¶ 17; R. 85.)

The Arbitration Agreement states that Lyft and any prospective user mutually agree that all claims between them “arising out of or relating to . . . the Lyft Platform” and/or “Rideshare Services” are subject to arbitration and that the Federal Arbitration Act would govern. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, A-5; R. 108, 148.) It states in relevant part:

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

YOU AND LYFT MUTUALLY AGREE TO WAIVE OUR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY AND AGREE TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE BY ARBITRATION, as set forth

below. This agreement to arbitrate (“Arbitration Agreement”) is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”); . . . This Arbitration Agreement Survives after the Agreement terminates or your relationship with Lyft ends.

Except as expressly provided below, ALL DISPUTES AND CLAIMS BETWEEN US (EACH A “CLAIM” AND COLLECTIVELY, “CLAIMS”) SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESOVLED BY BINDING ARBITRATION SOLELY BETWEEN YOU AND LYFT. These Claims include, but are not limited to, any dispute, claim or controversy, whether based on past, present, or future events, arising out of or relating to: this Agreement and prior versions thereof (including the breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation or validity thereof), the Lyft Platform, the Rideshare Services, . . . your relationship with Lyft . . . and all other federal and state statutory and common law claims. All disputes concerning the arbitrability of a Claim (including disputes about the scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement) shall be decided by the arbitrator, except as expressly provided below.

(Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a), A-5, ¶ 17(a); R. 107-08, 147-48.) The Arbitration Agreement further expressly provides that by agreeing to arbitration “YOU AND LYFT ARE WAIVING THE RIGHT TO SUE IN COURT OR HAVE A JURY TRIAL FOR ALL CLAIMS, EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.” (*Id.*) Critically, the Arbitration Agreement contains a delegation clause providing that the arbitrator possesses the *sole* authority to resolve any disputes concerning the “arbitrability of a Claim” including the “scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement.” (*Id.*)

Respondent created a user account with Lyft on October 31, 2020, and affirmatively accepted Lyft’s TOS dated August 26, 2019 within the Lyft App. (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A ¶¶ 11–12; R. 83-84.) At the time Respondent accepted the operative TOS, he was presented with the full text of the Terms directly on the screen of the Lyft App accompanied by a banner stating: “Before

you can proceed you must read and agree to Lyft's Terms of Service." (*Id.* at ¶ 15; R. 84.) At the bottom of the screen—immediately under the full text of the Lyft Terms—the Lyft App presented Respondent with a large "I Agree" button, which he was required to click to demonstrate consent and agreement to be bound by the Terms to proceed with using the Lyft App. (*Id.*) A full copy of the current Terms was also accessible to Respondent at any time on Lyft's website and within the Lyft App. (*Id.* at ¶ 9; R. 83.)

Lyft updated its TOS on December 9, 2020. On December 13, 2020, Lyft notified Respondent directly by email with the subject line: "We're updating our Terms of Service." (*Id.* at ¶ 12; R. 83-84.) The email explained to Respondent that the December 9, 2020 TOS included "revisions to our Dispute Resolution and Arbitration Agreement, which explains how legal disputes are handled." (*Id.*) The email also included a blue hyperlink to the December 9, 2020 TOS, and stated in bold and underline: "**Your continued use of Lyft will confirm that you have reviewed and agreed to the updated Terms.**" (*Id.*) On February 7, 2021, Respondent accepted Lyft's December 9, 2020 TOS. (*Id.*)

In affirmatively accepting Lyft's Terms and reaffirming that acceptance, Respondent agreed to be bound by the Arbitration Agreement. (*Id.*; Mot. to Compel, Ex. A-2 – TOS Consent History; R. 87.) And because of his agreement to be bound the Arbitration Agreement, Respondent was able to use the Lyft App to request and/or purchase Rideshare Services on 43 separate occasions. (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A ¶ 4; R. 82.) Respondent could not have requested or purchased those Rideshare Services without affirmatively consenting to the Terms. (*Id.*) Indeed, Respondent has never disputed that he accepted the Terms or the benefits that flowed therefrom. (*See generally* Resp. in Opp'n; R. 170-79.)

In December 2021, Respondent was riding as a passenger in Defendant White’s vehicle while she was providing Rideshare Services on the Lyft Platform. (*See* Compl. ¶¶ 8–16; R. 17-18.) Respondent alleges he was injured when Defendant Jane Doe sideswiped Defendant White’s vehicle. (*Id.*)

In December 2024, Respondent filed suit asserting claims of negligence and negligence *per se* against Lyft, Defendant White, and Defendant Doe. (*See generally id.*; R. 15-22.) As to Lyft, Respondent contended that Lyft is vicariously liable for Defendant White’s alleged negligent driving on the Lyft Platform because Defendant White was using the Lyft Platform when the accident occurred. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 32–37; R. 20-22.)

In response, Lyft filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration (the “Motion”). (Mot. to Compel; R. 58-169.) Respondent opposed the Motion, contending that: (1) the Arbitration Agreement was an unconscionable adhesion contract and (2) none of his claims against Lyft fell within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (Mem. in Opp’n pp. 5–6; R. 174-75.) ***Respondent made no mention of the delegation clause.*** Lyft then filed a Reply arguing, among other things, that the court had no authority to decide Respondent’s contentions because of the unchallenged and enforceable delegation clause. (Reply; R. 179-268.)

The Circuit Court held a hearing on Lyft’s Motion. (Transcript of 7/31/2025 Hrg.; R. 41-57.) At the hearing, Respondent again did not challenge the delegation clause. In fact, Respondent conceded that “the arbitrator does have [] the authority to decide if this dispute arises under the arbitration clause.” (*Id.* at 9:10–12; R. 49.) Instead, Respondent argued that since he was not driving on the Lyft Platform or physically logged into the Lyft App himself, the Terms are inapplicable to him, including the Arbitration Agreement. (*See id.* at 8:9–11:7; R. 48-51.)

On August 21, 2025, the Circuit Court issued an Order denying Lyft's Motion.¹ The Order failed to mention or address the delegation clause. Instead, the Order proceeded directly to the merits of Respondent's challenges to the arbitrability of his claims against Lyft. As to the scope and applicability of the Arbitration Agreement, the Circuit Court concluded that Lyft's Terms "only govern a user's active use or access of the Lyft Platform or Defendant Lyft's services" and thus there is no "significant relationship" between Respondent's claims and the TOS containing the Arbitration Agreement. (Order p. 2; R. 5.) The Circuit Court additionally found the Arbitration Agreement unenforceable on grounds of unconscionability. (*Id.* pp. 2-3; R. 5-6.)

Lyft timely filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. (Mot. to Reconsider; R. 269-320.) In response, Respondent filed a Memorandum and Affidavit in Opposition. (Resp. in Opp'n; R. 321-33.) Lyft then filed a Motion to Strike Respondent's Affidavit. (Mot. to Strike; R. 334-38.) The Circuit Court denied Lyft's Motion to Reconsider by Form 4 Order dated October 15, 2025. (Form 4 Order; R. 12.)

On November 12, 2025, Lyft timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal. (Not. of Appeal; R. 349-66.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Each of the legal issues on appeal are subject to de novo review. *Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 168, 171, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2007) (appeal from denial of a motion to compel arbitration); *One Belle Hall Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Trammell Crow Residential Co.*, 418 S.C. 51, 59, 791 S.E.2d 286, 291 (Ct. App. 2016) (appeal of arbitrability determination); *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 403 S.C. 10, 13, 742 S.E.2d 37, 39 (Ct. App. 2013) (determining agreement is unconscionable).

¹ The Circuit Court's Order adopted Respondent's proposed order verbatim.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court erred by deciding gateway issues delegated to the arbitrator.

This case presents a straightforward application of a valid and unchallenged delegation clause confirmed by an unbroken line of U.S. Supreme Court and South Carolina precedent. Respondent indisputably and repeatedly agreed to the Arbitration Agreement. The Arbitration Agreement contains a clear and broad delegation clause. It requires the arbitrator to resolve all arbitrability disputes, including the scope, applicability, validity and enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement. (Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a) & A-5, ¶ 17(a); R. 107-08, 147-48.) Respondent has not challenged the delegation clause. Accordingly, “a court may not override the contract and decide the arbitrability question.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors*, 435 S.C. at 700, 869 S.E.2d at 864 (citing *Henry Schein*, 586 U.S. at 69). However, that is exactly what the Circuit Court did here. This was reversible error.

A. Respondent entered into a binding and enforceable Arbitration Agreement with Lyft containing a delegation clause.

State law governs whether an agreement to arbitrate was formed. *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan* 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995). To form an agreement in South Carolina, there must be: (1) an offer, (2) acceptance, and (3) valuable consideration. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003).

The Circuit Court correctly found that an agreement to arbitrate exists. Indeed, Respondent has never disputed the existence of such an agreement or that he validly accepted Lyft’s TOS. Nor could he since Respondent affirmatively and twice agreed to Lyft’s Terms (the offer), acknowledging his consent within the Lyft App by clicking a button labeled “I Agree” (the acceptance) presented to him beneath the full text of Lyft’s TOS. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Ex. A, ¶ 18; R. 85-86 (“Plaintiff could not have proceeded to access content on the Lyft App without first

accepting Lyft's Terms of Service by clicking the 'I Agree' button beneath the full text of Lyft's Terms of Service.”.)

The Arbitration Agreement plainly states that Lyft and Respondent “AGREE TO WAIVE OUR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY AND AGREE TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE BY ARBITRATION.” (Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a) & A-5, ¶ 17(a); R. 107-08, 147-48.) Importantly, the Arbitration Agreement also clearly and unmistakably sets forth the parties’ “additional antecedent agreement”—a mutual delegation clause expressly delegating to the arbitrator exclusive authority to resolve any disputes regarding arbitrability, including those concerning the “scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement.” (*Id.*)

In return for Respondent's consent to the TOS, including the mutual Arbitration Agreement, Lyft provided Respondent with access to the Lyft Platform, which he used to purchase Rideshare Services on 43 occasions. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Ex. A, ¶ 13; R. 84.) This suffices to establish consideration. *See e.g., Osvatics v. Lyft, Inc.*, 535 F. Supp. 3d 1, 10–11 (D.D.C. 2021) (Jackson, J.) (Lyft and plaintiff “exchanged adequate consideration” and were therefore required to arbitrate because, “in return [for the plaintiff's] assent to its arbitration clause, Lyft provided [the plaintiff] with access to its application” and “further agreed to arbitrate any disputes between the parties.”); *accord Mohammed v. Uber Technologies, Inc.* No. 16 C 2537, 2018 WL 1184733, at *6, *8 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 7, 2018) (“Uber provided consideration for the agreement through providing [plaintiff] with the benefits of its [ridesharing platform] app and connection to its riders.”).

Therefore, Lyft indisputably established the existence of the Arbitration Agreement with Respondent, and since Lyft and Respondent have expressly agreed to delegate resolution of all arbitrability questions to the arbitrator, this ends the Court’s inquiry as detailed below.

B. The Circuit Court erred by overriding the delegation clause in the Arbitration Agreement delegating all gateway issues to the arbitrator for determination.

1. The FAA Requires that a delegation clause—like any agreement to arbitrate— be enforced according to its terms.

The Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA, which Respondent has also never disputed. The FAA provides, in relevant part, that “[a] written provision in any . . . contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. When an action subject to arbitration is brought in court, the court “*shall* make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration.” 9 U.S.C. §§ 3–4 (emphasis added).

The FAA “leaves no place for the exercise of discretion . . . but instead mandates that [i] courts shall direct the parties to proceed to arbitration on issues as to which an arbitration agreement has been signed.” *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218 (1985); *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 592, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001) (noting the FAA “requires courts to enforce privately negotiated agreements to arbitrate, like other contracts, in accordance with their terms”) (internal quotations omitted)).

Ordinarily, “the court, rather than an arbitrator, will decide ‘gateway’ issues related to arbitration, including whether the arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable and whether it covers the parties’ dispute.” *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 608, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020). However, arbitration is a matter of contract, and the FAA allows parties to resolve by their contract the question of “who has the primary power to decide” disputes regarding gateway

arbitrability questions. *Coinbase, Inc. v. Suski*, 602 U.S. 143, 148–49 (2024). *See also Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 384, 892 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2023) (“[T]he Supreme Court has consistently held that parties may delegate threshold arbitrability questions to the arbitrator, so long as the parties’ agreement does so by ‘clear and unmistakable’ evidence.”) (quoting *Henry Schein*, 586 U.S. at 69)).

“Just as the arbitrability of the merits of a dispute depends upon whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute, so the question ‘who has the primary power to decide arbitrability’ turns upon what the parties agreed about that matter.” *First Options*, 514 U.S. at 943 (citations omitted). “As long as the parties’ agreement delegates the arbitrability question to an arbitrator ‘by clear and unmistakable evidence,’ a court may not override the contract and decide the arbitrability question.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors*, 435 S.C. at 700, 869 S.E.2d at 864 (quoting *Henry Schein*, 586 U.S. at 69). To do otherwise would contravene the FAA’s mandate that arbitration agreements—whether governing the resolution of substantive claims, issues of arbitrability, or any other dispute—be placed “on an equal footing with other contracts,” and “enforce[d] ... according to their terms.” *Rent-A-Ctr., W., Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 67 (2010) (citations omitted).

2. Lyft and Respondent clearly and unmistakably agreed to arbitrate all disputes as to arbitrability.

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