THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

MAY 02 2024

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.2023-001506  
Case No. 2022-CP-04-02159

Skylar Blume, Virgil Dowis, Rhi Greer, Jonathan Hudson,  
Natalie Mann, Mya Ourada, Braden Terrill, & Aneil Tripathi..... Respondents,

v.

Starbucks, Inc. and Melissa Morris,..... Appellants,

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS BLUME ET AL.**

Matthew R. Ozment  
Grove Ozment LLC  
100 Williams Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 516-2222  
Matt@go-lawyers.com

Daniel M. Rosenthal  
Michael P. Ellement

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

## Argument

### **I. Defendants waived their right to compel arbitration.**

#### **A. This Court must analyze waiver of the right to arbitrate on the same terms as waiver of other rights or defenses, in line with the Supreme Court's decision in *Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 142 S. Ct. 1708 (2022).**

In the past, attempting to implement a purported "strong policy favoring arbitration," South Carolina courts required "a showing of actual prejudice before finding waiver" of arbitration. *Rich v. Walsh*, 357 S.C. 64, 68–71, 590 S.E.2d 506, 508–10 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003). Generally, that showing was made by establishing that the party seeking to compel arbitration had waited a "significant period of time," often *years* before invoking arbitration, *id.* at 72, 590 S.E.2d at 510, and had already engaged in "extensive discovery" in the ongoing court litigation. *Toler's Cove Homeowners Assn. v. Trident Constr. Co.*, 355 S.C. 605, 612, 586 S.E.2d 581, 585 (S.C. 2003).

But the U.S. Supreme Court has abrogated any precedents applying arbitration-specific tests to determine whether a party has waived the right to arbitrate. *See Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 142 S. Ct. 1708 (2022). In *Morgan*, the Supreme Court rejected the application of an arbitration-specific waiver test requiring a showing of prejudice. 142 S. Ct. at 1712–13. In doing

so, the Court reaffirmed that the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) requires that courts treat “arbitration contracts like all others—no more, no less.” 142 S. Ct. at 1710. The Court explained that its prior references to a policy favoring arbitration was “merely an acknowledgement of the FAA’s commitment to overrule the judiciary’s longstanding refusal to enforce agreements to arbitrate and to place such agreements upon the same footing as other contracts.” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted). The ‘policy’ of the FAA was thus “to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, *but not more so.*” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted). *Morgan* thus held that “a court may not devise novel rules to favor arbitration over litigation,” including a requirement that the party opposing forced arbitration establish prejudice. 142 S. Ct. at 1710

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has also now repeatedly recognized that there is “no public policy—federal or state—‘favoring’ arbitration.” *Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 382, 892 S.E.2d 112, 114 (S.C. 2023) (quoting *Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021)). Just as in *Morgan*, our State Supreme Court reasoned that Congress enacted the FAA simply “to place an arbitration agreement ‘upon the same footing as other contracts,’ and that there is nothing in state or federal law that authorizes courts to “elevate a contractual right of arbitration above the procedural rules of the court or other contractual provisions.” *Palmetto Constr. Grp.*, 432 S.C. at 636–37, 856 S.E.2d at 152 (quoting *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 219–20 (1985)). *Palmetto Construction* thus held that U.S. and South Carolina Supreme Court decisions concerning the FAA do not “supplant state procedural law,” and for that reason rejected an arbitration-specific standard for appealing orders denying motions to set aside default judgments. *Palmetto Constr. Grp.*, 432 S.C. at 639, 856 S.E.2d at 153. Accordingly, any basis that previously

existed for applying arbitration-specific waiver rules are now gone, and this Court must apply the same waiver rules that apply to other contractual rights or defenses.

The bottom line is that this Court should not apply its pre-*Morgan* precedent establishing an arbitration-specific waiver test that requires a showing of prejudice. Neither Starbucks nor Morris offer any reason to hold otherwise. Both rely on outdated case law advancing a purported “policy strongly favoring arbitration.” Starbucks’ Init. Br. at 8–9; Morris’ Init. Br. at 10. Starbucks in fact admits that cases requiring a showing of prejudice are, to say the least, “questionable” following the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Morgan*. Starbucks’ Init. Br. at 17.

Nonetheless, Starbucks inexplicably goes on to rely on pre-*Morgan* precedents using factors that are now impermissible. Citing outdated decisions, Starbucks argues that it could not have waived arbitration because it did not engage in “extensive discovery” in the trial court or wait several years before invoking arbitration. Starbucks’ Init. Br. at 16–20; Morris’ Init. Br. at 20. However, in each of the cases cited by Starbucks, the court proceeded under the very framework rejected in *Morgan*, analyzing the existence of “substantial delay” and “extensive discovery” to determine whether a party opposing arbitration had suffered prejudice.<sup>1</sup> Because,

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Deloitte & Touche, LLP v. Unisys Corp.*, 358 S.C. 179, 184, 594 S.E.2d 523, 526 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004) (multi-year delay and extensive discovery established that party opposing arbitration “has been prejudiced”); *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 665, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999) (“In order to establish waiver, a party must show prejudice through an undue burden caused by delay in demanding arbitration.”); *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 127, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251 (S.C. Ct. App. 2007) (noting that discovery analysis goes to “ascertain[ing] whether the non-moving party was prejudiced”); *Toler’s Cove Homeowner Ass’n, Inc. v. Trident Constr. Co.*, 355 S.C. 605, 612, 586 S.E.2d 581, 585 (S.C. 2003) (analyzing extent of discovery and delay in context of establishing prejudice, in order to further the policy “favor[ing] arbitration of disputes”); *Rich v. Walsh*, 357 S.C. 64, 72–73, 590 S.E.2d 506, 510 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (noting that delay “should not be considered as a factor independent of the actual prejudice it occasions”); *Gen. Equip. & Supply Co. v. Keller Rigging & Constr., SC, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 553, 566, 544 S.E.2d 643, 645 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001) (“In

as Starbucks concedes, this prejudice-focused approach is now inapplicable, this Court should not follow those now-abrogated precedents.

Morris' only engagement with this argument, made in a footnote, is twofold. First, Morris attempts to minimize the Supreme Court's holding by saying that it only requires that "a court must hold a party to its arbitration contract just as the Court would to any other kind." *See* Morris' Init. Br. at 23–24, n.6. But that rule is precisely why the trial court was correct to find waiver here. The court was required to treat arbitration contracts on level footing with all others and thus could not apply the arbitration-specific procedural standards that Defendants rely on here. *See* Ord. Denying Mots. to Compel Arb. at 1–2 (R. pp. 8–9).

Second, Morris argues that because South Carolina's appellate courts have not yet expressly adopted *Morgan's* holding, it can have no effect on South Carolina's precedent requiring a showing of prejudice. Morris' Init. Br. at 23–24, n.6. As an initial matter, Morris' claim that *Morgan* cannot apply because a South Carolina appellate court has yet to hold that it does is a strange argument to make to a South Carolina appellate court presented with this issue for the first time. Even setting that aside, it is clear that *Morgan* applies to the question at hand. Defendants sought to compel arbitration pursuant to the FAA, not any state law. *See* Starbucks' Mot. to Compel Arb. at 1 (R. p. 374); Morris' Mot. to Compel Arb. At 1 (R. p. 252) (incorporating Starbucks' arguments); *see also* Starbucks' Mot. to Compel Arb., Ex. C at 2 (R. p.

---

order to establish waiver, a party must show prejudice through an undue burden caused by delay in demanding arbitration."); *Evans v. Accent Manufactured Homes, Inc.*, 352 S.C. 544, 551, 575 S.E.2d 74, 77 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003) (analyzing extent of discovery in context of evaluating prejudice); *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 388, 759 S.E.2d 727, 737 (S.C. 2014) (disregarding months-long delay in seeking arbitration for failure to show prejudice); *Carlson v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 257–58, 743 S.E.2d 868, 872–73 (S.C. Ct. App. 2013) (disregarding delay caused by filing motion to dismiss as insufficient to establish prejudice).

292) (noting that the Arbitration Agreement is “subject to the Federal Arbitration Act”). South Carolina courts required a showing of prejudice based on their understanding that the FAA embodied a policy of favoring arbitration over litigation, a policy that the South Carolina courts then adopted. *See Palmetto Constr. Grp.*, 432 S.C. 637–39, 856 S.E.2d at 152–53 (tracing history of the apocryphal state policy favoring arbitration). But *Morgan* makes clear that the FAA contains no such policy. *Morgan*, 142 S. Ct. at 1713–14. And to the extent South Carolina courts derived their pro-arbitration policy from anywhere other than the FAA, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has since repudiated any such policy. *See Sanders*, 440 S.C. at 382, 892 S.E.2d at 114; *Palmetto Constr. Grp.*, 432 S.C. at 639, 856 S.E.2d at 153.

In any event, because the FAA preempts the application of state law, “whether of legislative or judicial origin” that “takes its meaning precisely from the fact that a contract to arbitrate is at issue,” the statute prohibits all arbitration-specific tests, whether they purport to be derived from the FAA or from state common law. *Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U.S. 483, 492 n.9 (1987). As the U.S. Supreme Court made clear in *Prima Paint*, to “immunize an arbitration agreement from judicial challenge” on grounds not applicable to other contracts would be to “elevate it over other forms of contract,” which would be inconsistent with Section 2 of the FAA. *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n.12 (1967). In line with the FAA’s preemptive effect, other state courts have expressly held that their state-law precedents requiring a showing of prejudice have been overruled. *See Kingery Constr. Co. v. 6135 O St. Car Wash, LLC*, 312 Neb. 502, 508–09, 979 N.W. 2d 762, 770 (Neb. 2022) (“In light of the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in *Morgan*, we overrule our earlier decision in *LaRue Distributing* and cases relying on it to the extent they can be read to hold that prejudice is required for a waiver based on litigation-related conduct.”); *Lopez v. GMT Auto Sales*, 656 S.W.3d 315, 333 (Mo. App.

E.D. 2022) (“Under the dictates of *Morgan*, we are not to consider prejudice—or the lack thereof—to the parties.”).

**B. Under long-established waiver principles, Defendants have waived their right to compel arbitration.**

Significantly, neither Defendant even attempts to argue that they should prevail under South Carolina’s ordinary waiver principles. Accordingly, they have waived any such argument. *Bochette v. Bochette*, 300 S.C. 109, 112, 386 S.E.2d 475, 477 (S.C. Ct. App. 1989) (“An appellant may not use either oral argument or the reply brief as a vehicle to argue issues not argued in the appellant’s brief.”). Nonetheless, it is clear that Defendants’ conduct in this case amounts to waiver under South Carolina’s ordinary waiver principles.

As explained above, courts must analyze waiver of the right to arbitrate on the same terms as waiver of other rights or defenses. *See Morgan*, 142 S. Ct. at 1713–14. As *Morgan* recognized, waiver is the “intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right,” and to determine whether waiver has occurred “for a contractual right, as for any other,” courts focus “on the actions of the person who held the right.” 142 S. Ct. at 1713. South Carolina’s long-established waiver rules for rights and defenses outside of the arbitration context are consistent with *Morgan*: if a party “shall make any speech or perform any act from which a reasonable inference may be drawn that the company does not stand upon its right, then waiver may be inferred.” *Lawrimore v. Am. Health & Life Ins. Co.*, 276 S.C. 112, 118, 276 S.E.2d 296, 299 (S.C. 1981) (quoting *Williams v. Phila. Life Ins. Co.*, 112 S.C. 436, 447, 100 S.E. 157, 160 (S.C. 1919)). Waiver by implication results when a party has “knowledge of all of the facts” related to a waivable right or defense, but takes “any action or inaction manifestly inconsistent with an intention to insist on” the defense. *City of N. Myrtle Beach v. Lewis-Davis*, 360 S.C. 225, 235, 599 S.E.2d 462, 467 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004) (quotation marks omitted).

Here, Defendants' significant delay in seeking to compel arbitration, along with their decisions to move to dismiss (on non-arbitration related grounds) and transfer the case to Business Court, are inconsistent with the intention to assert the right to arbitrate. Starbucks filed its motion to compel arbitration on the day that its discovery responses were due to Plaintiffs; Morris filed a motion to compel arbitration nearly two months later, once Morris' discovery responses were significantly late. Defendants do not claim (nor could they) that their delay in seeking arbitration was caused by a need to discover facts relevant to asserting that right. Nor do Defendants cite any reason why the issue they raised in their first motions to dismiss, whether the NLRA preempts Plaintiffs' state common law claims, could not be decided by an arbitrator. Moreover, Defendants made no reference to arbitration in their motions to dismiss or in the motion to transfer the case to the Business Court.

Furthermore, there would be no reason to seek to litigate this case in the Business Court, only to then force Plaintiffs into arbitration. Significantly, any claim that Defendants delayed filing a motion to compel arbitration because they did not believe Plaintiffs' claims should be heard in any forum rings hollow for this very reason. Why seek transfer to one forum—the Business Court—but not to an arbitrator? By moving for the case to be heard by the Business Court, Defendants were specifically requesting for a division of the Circuit Court to hear the case. This motion was directly at odds with their current argument that the Circuit Court was not a proper venue due to the arbitration agreement. Making matters worse, Starbucks premised its Business Court motion on the notion that this case involved out-of-state attorneys and “complex issues and legal doctrines,” which is inconsistent with Starbucks' current argument that no court (including the Business Court) should hear the case at all. *See Starbucks' Mot. to Transfer to Bus. Ct.* at 3–4 (R. pp. 421–422).

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